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·1· · · · · · · · · · · · ·- - - - -

·2· · · · · · · · · ·P R O C E E D I N G S

·3· · · · · · · · · · · · ·- - - - -

·4· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Good afternoon.

·5· · Before we begin, I would like to go over some

·6· · instructions for this video and telephone

·7· · conference.

·8· · · · · · · ·If you have joined online, please mute

·9· · your microphone.· If you have called in via phone,

10· · please use the "mute" feature of your phone.· Once

11· · the hearing begins, everyone will be muted except

12· · for those presenting.· If you have called, you can

13· · unmute yourself by pressing "star 6."

14· · · · · · · ·Witnesses for the Applicant and anyone

15· · wishing to make comments, please wait to be

16· · individually called upon by your attorney or by

17· · the Division before speaking.· Please mute your

18· · microphones anytime you are not speaking and when

19· · you have finished presenting to avoid any

20· · feedback.

21· · · · · · · ·I am now asking anyone who would like

22· · to make comments, please state your name slowly

23· · and clearly for the Division and identify whether

24· · you are an unleased mineral owner, working
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·1· · interest owner, or an owner with a property in the

·2· · Ronald N SMF JF unit.· I would also like this

·3· · information from anyone who represents any of

·4· · these persons.· We will make note of your name and

·5· · call upon you when it is time for comments.

·6· · · · · · · ·If you have joined us via WebEx, please

·7· · unmute yourself now and tell us your name if you

·8· · wish to make comments.

·9· · · · · · · ·Hearing none.

10· · · · · · · ·If you joined us via phone, please

11· · unmute yourself by pressing "star 6" and tell us

12· · your name if you wish to make comments.

13· · · · · · · ·Hearing none.

14· · · · · · · ·We have had a couple people coming into

15· · the hearing; please mute your microphones when

16· · entering.· Thank you.

17· · · · · · · ·With that, we will begin the hearing.

18· · · · · · · ·Ms. Barrett.

19· · · · · · · ·MS. BARRETT:· Yes.· Thank you.· Good

20· · afternoon.· Today is Wednesday, October 1st, 2025.

21· · And we are here on the matter of the application

22· · of Ascent Resources-Utica, LLC, for unit operation

23· · of the Ronald N SMF JF unit.· This hearing before

24· · the Ohio Department of Natural Resources, Division
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·1· · of Oil and Gas Resources Management, is convened

·2· · pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 1509.28.

·3· · · · · · · ·My name is Jennifer Barrett.· And I'm

·4· · an administrative officer for the Division.· Also

·5· · with me today is Program Administrator Barbara

·6· · Richardson.· We are conducting the hearing today

·7· · and serve as the Chief's designees on this matter.

·8· · · · · · · ·On August 11th, 2025, Ascent filed with

·9· · the Division an application for unit operation for

10· · a unit designated as the Ronald N SMF JF unit.

11· · Ascent filed subsequent revisions to the

12· · application.· The unit is proposed to be located

13· · in Jefferson County, Ohio.· In its application,

14· · Ascent claims to have the mineral rights through

15· · voluntary agreements to approximately 492.397

16· · acres of the desired approximate 564.221-acre

17· · unit.

18· · · · · · · ·The purpose of today's hearing is to

19· · determine whether Ascent's Ronald N SMF JF unit

20· · application meets all of the requirements of

21· · Revised Code Section 1509.28.· Under that section,

22· · the Chief of the Division must issue an order if

23· · he determines that the Applicant has shown that,

24· · one, the unit is reasonably necessary to increase
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·1· · substantially the ultimate recovery of oil and

·2· · gas; and two, the estimated additional recovery

·3· · from the unit exceeds the additional cost.

·4· · · · · · · ·Neither the Chief nor any of us here

·5· · today have made any decisions on Ascent's

·6· · application.· After today's hearing, we will

·7· · review all of the information provided to us in

·8· · order to make a determination.· We have a court

·9· · reporter present as well, and we will have a copy

10· · of the transcript of this hearing for review.

11· · · · · · · ·The Chief's decision will be issued

12· · through a Chief's Order, which will be posted on

13· · the Division's website.· Pursuant to Revised Code

14· · Section 1509.36, any order may be appealed within

15· · 30 days after the date upon which the person to

16· · whom the order was issued received the order and

17· · for all other persons adversely affected by the

18· · order within 30 days after the date of the order

19· · complained of.

20· · · · · · · ·The hearing will proceed as follows:

21· · Ascent will present its witnesses and exhibits and

22· · will answer questions posed by the Division staff.

23· · Then any unleased mineral owners, working interest

24· · owners, and those persons with property included
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·1· · in the proposed Ronald N SMF JF unit will have the

·2· · opportunity to present questions and concerns to

·3· · the Division staff.· And then the Division staff

·4· · may take a break to determine if there are any

·5· · additional questions for the Applicant.

·6· · · · · · · ·To proceed in an orderly fashion, we

·7· · ask that any interested party who speaks here

·8· · today pose any questions to the Division and we

·9· · will then ask any questions to Ascent.

10· · Additionally, anyone speaking today will be asked

11· · to provide their information to the court

12· · reporter.· If you are uncomfortable speaking

13· · during the hearing, we will also accept written

14· · comments.

15· · · · · · · ·We will now ask the Applicant to make

16· · its introductions and begin its presentation.

17· · · · · · · ·MR. HYLTON:· Thank you, Ms. Barrett.

18· · · · · · · ·And good afternoon, everybody.· My name

19· · is Mark Hylton and I'm an attorney with the law

20· · firm of Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease, in its

21· · Columbus, Ohio, office.· And I'm here this

22· · afternoon on behalf of the Applicant, Ascent

23· · Resources Utica, LLC, to ask the Division for a

24· · unit order that would authorize Ascent to develop
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·1· · its proposed Ronald N SMF JF unit, consistent with

·2· · the unit plan that was attached to its

·3· · application.

·4· · · · · · · ·The Applicant and the other consenting

·5· · working interest owner, Ascent Utica Minerals,

·6· · LLC, are the owners of over 87 percent of the

·7· · acreage in the proposed unit.· The Applicant plans

·8· · to drill two wells from a pad located just outside

·9· · the southern end of the unit, with each well being

10· · approximately 8,500 feet in completed lateral

11· · length.

12· · · · · · · ·They are asking for a unit order

13· · because there are a number of tracts in the unit

14· · that are currently unleased or leased to a

15· · non-consenting working interest owner.· This

16· · afternoon you will hear testimony from Hayley

17· · Sloat, an Ascent landman; Paul Cooper, an Ascent

18· · geologist; and Wes McAlister, an Ascent reservoir

19· · engineer.· Their collective testimony will

20· · establish that the Applicant meets each of the

21· · elements required for a unit order under the

22· · Revised Code Section 1509.28.

23· · · · · · · ·We therefore ask the Division to

24· · approve the application, including the unit plan,
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·1· · and issue the requested unit order for the Ronald

·2· · N SMF JF unit.

·3· · · · · · · ·We would like to call our first witness

·4· · today, Hayley Sloat.

·5· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Please swear in the

·6· · witness.

·7· · · · · · · · · · · · ·- - - - -

·8· · · · · · · · · · · ·HAYLEY SLOAT

·9· · being first duly sworn, testifies and says as

10· · follows:

11· · · · · · · · · · DIRECT EXAMINATION

12· · BY MR. HYLTON:

13· · Q.· · · · ·Hello, Ms. Sloat.· How are you?

14· · A.· · · · ·I'm well.· How are you?

15· · Q.· · · · ·Doing great, thanks.· Could you please

16· · introduce yourself to the panel and share a bit

17· · about your educational and professional

18· · background.

19· · A.· · · · ·Sure.· My name is Hayley Sloat.· I'm a

20· · district landman for Ascent Resources.  I

21· · graduated from Southwestern University in

22· · Georgetown, Texas.· And ever since then, I've

23· · worked in various different land capacities for

24· · oil and gas companies.· I have been here at Ascent
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·1· · for over 11 years.· I was at Chesapeake Energy for

·2· · over three years.· And altogether I have had about

·3· · 12 years of experience in the Utica Shale area.

·4· · Q.· · · · ·And do you belong to any

·5· · industry-relevant professional associations,

·6· · Ms. Sloat?

·7· · A.· · · · ·I do.· I am in both the American

·8· · Association of Professional Landmen and the

·9· · Oklahoma City Association of Professional Landmen.

10· · Q.· · · · ·What does a landman like yourself do on

11· · a day-to-day basis at Ascent?

12· · A.· · · · ·We are in charge of a lot of different

13· · things, including lease negotiations and

14· · acquisitions, negotiating trade agreements,

15· · managing the field brokers, reviewing title

16· · records, requesting curative, and really anything

17· · related to general unit development.

18· · Q.· · · · ·As part of your job responsibilities,

19· · were you the landman put in charge of overseeing

20· · the general development and the unitization of the

21· · proposed Ronald N SMF JF unit?

22· · A.· · · · ·Yes, I was.

23· · Q.· · · · ·Okay.· And with reference to the unit

24· · plat that I'm sharing on the screen, could you
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·1· · please tell us a bit about the unit and Ascent's

·2· · development plan?

·3· · A.· · · · ·So this unit, the Ronald North, is

·4· · located entirely in Jefferson County and

·5· · specifically Smithfield Township.· It is comprised

·6· · of 318 tracts; that's quite a big unit.· It covers

·7· · about 564.221 acres.· And we are planning on

·8· · developing that area with two laterals that we are

·9· · calling the 3H and the 5H.

10· · Q.· · · · ·Ms. Sloat, approximately what

11· · percentage of the unit acreage is collectively

12· · owned by Ascent Resources and Ascent Utica

13· · Minerals, the consenting parties?

14· · A.· · · · ·Now altogether, we currently have about

15· · 87.5 percent.· And that includes a handful of

16· · leases that we actually got in just yesterday.

17· · · · · · · ·So Division, just be on notice, please,

18· · that we have recently leased Tract 299, Tract 311,

19· · Tract 312, and a portion of the Tracts 61A and

20· · 61B.· Also Oak Hill, who is currently a working

21· · interest owner in the unit, has leased a handful

22· · of additional parcels, including Tracts 109, 146,

23· · 256, and 257.· But the 87.5 percent working

24· · interest number that I referenced for ARU and ARM,
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·1· · like I said, it includes these new releases that

·2· · we just got in.

·3· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you for those updates, Ms. Sloat.

·4· · And like you said, yes, we will be sure to update

·5· · the Division in a post-hearing supplement for

·6· · those new leases.

·7· · · · · · · ·So for the currently unleased tracts

·8· · or partially unleased tracts, has Ascent been in

·9· · contact with the unleased mineral owners to

10· · negotiate an oil and gas lease?

11· · A.· · · · ·Yes.· All those attempts are detailed

12· · in the contact log that is included in the

13· · application.

14· · Q.· · · · ·Has Ascent also attempted to enter into

15· · an agreement relating to the development of the

16· · unit with the non-consenting working interest

17· · owners in the unit?

18· · A.· · · · ·Yes.· And we are still in communication

19· · with both of those parties.

20· · Q.· · · · ·Will Ascent continue to negotiate with

21· · the unleased mineral owners and the non-consenting

22· · working interest owners after the hearing?

23· · A.· · · · ·Yes.· Ascent is willing to negotiate

24· · mutually agreeable leases with any owner who has
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·1· · not asked us specifically that we stop contacting

·2· · them.· And we would negotiate those leases just

·3· · based on current market terms.

·4· · · · · · · ·As for the non-consenting working

·5· · interest party, like I said, we are still in

·6· · communication with them to try to work something

·7· · out.

·8· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you, Ms. Sloat.· I would like to

·9· · direct your attention briefly to the green square

10· · that is located just south of the unit boundary

11· · here.· This square represents the location of the

12· · well pad for this unit.· Has this pad been built?

13· · A.· · · · ·Yes.· It was built way back in 2019.

14· · · · · · · ·(Unintelligible)

15· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Excuse me.· Excuse me.

16· · Please mute your microphone when entering the

17· · meeting.· Thank you.

18· · · · · · · ·My apologies.· Please proceed.

19· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you, Ms. Richardson.

20· · · · · · · ·Ms. Sloat, what is it that gave Ascent

21· · the right to build the pad at that location shown

22· · here with the green square?

23· · A.· · · · ·We have a surface use agreement and

24· · lease rights for that whole area.
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·1· · Q.· · · · ·If the Division were to issue the

·2· · requested unit order, when does Ascent currently

·3· · intend to drill these two wells?

·4· · A.· · · · ·Right now we are planning on the summer

·5· · of 2027, but of course plans can change at any

·6· · time in between.

·7· · Q.· · · · ·Understood.· Thank you, Ms. Sloat.· Now

·8· · I would like to ask you some questions about the

·9· · unit plan that was included as part of the

10· · application, including the operating agreement.

11· · · · · · · ·So under that unit plan, could you

12· · tell us how the unit's production and expenses

13· · are proposed to be allocated?

14· · A.· · · · ·All of those expenses would be

15· · allocated based on how much each working interest

16· · owner contributes to the acreage of the entire

17· · unit.

18· · Q.· · · · ·So is a surface acreage basis what is

19· · being used then, just so I'm clear?

20· · A.· · · · ·Yeah, absolutely.· Owners who

21· · contribute more acreage to the unit would get a

22· · proportionally larger slice of the pie.

23· · Q.· · · · ·Which parties will be responsible for

24· · paying the unit expenses?
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·1· · A.· · · · ·The expenses would only be borne by the

·2· · working interest parties.

·3· · Q.· · · · ·Does the operating agreement have a

·4· · non-consent penalty for any non-consenting working

·5· · interest owners?

·6· · A.· · · · ·Yes, it does.· It's set at 500.

·7· · Q.· · · · ·Do you believe a 500 percent

·8· · non-consent penalty is fair and reasonable?

·9· · A.· · · · ·I do.· It's not uncommon in JOAs in

10· · Ohio, and I've seen many with that rate.

11· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you very much, Ms. Sloat.

12· · · · · · · ·MR. HYLTON:· I have nothing further at

13· · this time.

14· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.

15· · · · · · · ·Ms. Sloat, did you have any unknown or

16· · undetermined mineral owners?

17· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Oh, yes.· There are a

18· · handful of heirships in this unit, so we do have

19· · some unknown owners.

20· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Can you describe what

21· · efforts you have taken to identify the unknown or

22· · undetermined mineral owners?

23· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Sure.· We searched

24· · through the official public county records, court
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·1· · documents, genealogical records, and when needed,

·2· · we also try to collect affidavits of heirship from

·3· · people who might have known the person that we are

·4· · trying to figure out is the owner.

·5· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Okay.· Thank you.· If

·6· · you were to receive a unitization order, can you

·7· · describe what happens to any payments that would

·8· · be owed to unknown or undetermined mineral owners

·9· · under that order?

10· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Any revenue associated

11· · with the unknown owners is held in suspense.· It's

12· · not distributed to anybody until proper

13· · documentation is provided to Ascent.· If we agree

14· · that the documentation clears and cures the title

15· · issue, then we would release the revenue to the

16· · appropriate owners.

17· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· What is

18· · the current average outstanding offer to the

19· · unleased mineral owners in the proposed unit?· The

20· · average bonus and royalty.

21· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· So the average

22· · outstanding offers for people who are still

23· · actively negotiating with us on Exhibit A come to

24· · about $5,200 per acre and 19.6 percent royalty.
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·1· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· And is it based on

·2· · both net and gross?

·3· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes.· It's a mix of

·4· · different royalty provisions.

·5· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· Do those

·6· · offers -- do they include surface use?

·7· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I believe they include a

·8· · mix of both surface use and non-surface.· But

·9· · since we already have the surface location built

10· · here, that is absolutely something we could

11· · negotiate.

12· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Okay.· And will those

13· · offers expire?

14· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· So any extended offer is

15· · only valid for a reasonable amount of time.· And

16· · the current outstanding offers do not have an

17· · expiration date as long as the landowners stay in

18· · good communication with us and are actively

19· · negotiating.· Otherwise, they are typically

20· · limited to about two weeks.

21· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· What is

22· · the average offer that was accepted by the leased

23· · mineral owners in the proposed unit?· The bonus

24· · and royalty of that.
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·1· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· So for the folks who

·2· · Ascent leased that are on Exhibit A, that averages

·3· · out to about $4,000 per acre and 18.1 percent

·4· · royalty.

·5· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· Can you

·6· · please explain the difference between the current

·7· · offer and the average accepted offers?

·8· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Sure.· So you can tell by

·9· · the contact log that this unit has been in

10· · development over the course of several years.· So

11· · those different date spans, which involve

12· · different commodity markets, would have an effect

13· · on the different rates.· And then also things like

14· · development timing and competitor activity also

15· · tend to affect the market rate for the bonus and

16· · royalty.

17· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· And in

18· · your professional opinion, do you believe your

19· · lease attempts have been reasonable?· And if so,

20· · why?

21· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I do.· We have most of

22· · the unit leased already.· And we have lots of

23· · contact with folks who are unleased, as you can

24· · see in the log.· And of course, like I said, we
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·1· · are still trying to come to a new lease agreement

·2· · with folks who are still wanting to try to get a

·3· · lease together for mutually agreeable current

·4· · market terms.

·5· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· And you

·6· · may have answered this already, but will you

·7· · continue attempts to lease the unleased mineral

·8· · owners after the hearing and after the unitization

·9· · order is issued, if there is one?

10· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes.· Ascent is willing

11· · to negotiate mutually agreeable current market

12· · terms with any unleased landowner in the unit,

13· · except for those folks who specifically ask that

14· · we stop contacting them.

15· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· And you

16· · may have answered this one as well.· Do you

17· · believe your attempts to commit non-consenting

18· · working interest owners have been reasonable?· And

19· · if so, why?

20· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes.· Again, those logs

21· · are included in our contact log.

22· · · · · · · ·Some of that working interest is

23· · relatively new to the unit, so we have not had as

24· · much time to negotiate with at least one of those
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·1· · mineral owners.· But we are still working on all

·2· · of those negotiations.

·3· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Okay.· Thank you.· Do

·4· · the leases in the unit authorize drilling into and

·5· · producing from the proposed formations?

·6· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes, they do.

·7· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· And to establish bonus

·8· · and royalty amounts in leases, how are those

·9· · generally determined?

10· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Like I mentioned before,

11· · a lot of different factors go into that, including

12· · the different date spans, the commodity market,

13· · competitive activity, development timing.· Lots of

14· · different things factor into what we consider a

15· · "market rate."

16· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.

17· · · · · · · ·Before we continue on, when you are

18· · entering the meeting, please mute your

19· · microphones.· And I see that we have some people

20· · that are asking questions on the chat; we will get

21· · to that toward the end of the hearing.

22· · · · · · · ·Ms. Barrett, do you have any questions?

23· · · · · · · ·MS. BARRETT:· Yes.· I just had one.

24
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·1· · · · · · · · · · · · ·- - - - -

·2· · · · · · · · · · ·CROSS-EXAMINATION

·3· · BY MS. BARRETT:

·4· · Q.· · · · ·I was curious about the reasoning

·5· · behind the well spacing to the unit boundaries.

·6· · A.· · · · ·Honestly, I think that is probably a

·7· · better question for our reservoir engineer or our

·8· · geologists.· They have a lot of influence in

·9· · determining the spacing of the wells.

10· · Q.· · · · ·Okay.

11· · · · · · · ·MS. BARRETT:· No further questions for

12· · me.· Thank you.

13· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.

14· · · · · · · ·Mr. Hylton, please call your next

15· · witness.

16· · · · · · · ·MR. HYLTON:· Thank you, Ms. Richardson.

17· · · · · · · ·Our next witness is going to be Paul

18· · Cooper.

19· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Please swear in the

20· · witness.

21· · · · · · · · · · · · ·- - - - -

22· · · · · · · · · · · ·PAUL COOPER

23· · being first duly sworn, testifies and says as

24· · follows:
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·1· · · · · · · · · · DIRECT EXAMINATION

·2· · BY MR. HYLTON:

·3· · Q.· · · · ·Hello, Mr. Cooper.· How are you today?

·4· · A.· · · · ·Good afternoon, Mark.· I'm doing good.

·5· · Q.· · · · ·Would you mind introducing yourself to

·6· · the Division panel and telling us about your

·7· · educational and professional background.

·8· · A.· · · · ·Certainly.· My name is Paul Cooper.

·9· · I'm a geologist with Ascent Resources.· I have

10· · been with Ascent for the past 11 years, so 11

11· · years of Appalachian operator experience.· Prior

12· · to that, I spent about seven years working as a

13· · well site geology subcontractor, providing

14· · geological consulting services, primarily

15· · geosteering, while living and working on drilling

16· · rigs in various basins in the U.S., including the

17· · Appalachian Basin.

18· · · · · · · ·I have a Bachelor of Science in Geology

19· · from Virginia Tech.· And I am a member of the

20· · American Association of Petroleum Geologists.

21· · Q.· · · · ·And what are some of the things that

22· · you do on a day-to-day basis at Ascent?

23· · A.· · · · ·In general, my job responsibility would

24· · be interpretation of Ascent's subsurface data for
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·1· · use for various purposes in the company.  A

·2· · specific example of which would be, for a hearing

·3· · like this, looking at the area around the Ronald

·4· · unit area and the subsurface data in that area to

·5· · determine if the area under that unit qualifies as

·6· · part of a pool.

·7· · Q.· · · · ·What subsurface depths are included in

·8· · the proposed unitized formation for the subject

·9· · unit?

10· · A.· · · · ·Ascent is seeking to unitize the

11· · entirety of the Utica Shale formation.

12· · Q.· · · · ·And kind of, as you alluded to earlier,

13· · my questions are really going to be aimed at

14· · helping to determine whether the Utica Shale is a

15· · pool or part of a larger pool insofar as it

16· · underlies the subject unit.· So could you please

17· · tell us what the term "pool" means to you,

18· · Mr. Cooper?

19· · A.· · · · ·Yes.· A pool would be an area of the

20· · subsurface that has similar rock and reservoir

21· · characteristics.· You know, rock type, mineralogy,

22· · porosity, permeability, and most importantly, a

23· · significant accumulation of hydrocarbons,

24· · significant enough to be economically extracted.
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·1· · Q.· · · · ·Mr. Cooper, I understand that you and

·2· · your geology team completed an evaluation of the

·3· · subsurface beneath the subject unit.· Would you

·4· · mind telling us what type of information was

·5· · included in that evaluation?

·6· · A.· · · · ·Sure.· The primary data source for an

·7· · evaluation of this type would be wells in the

·8· · vicinity of the Ronald unit area that had complete

·9· · penetration of the Utica Shale and a suite of

10· · electric logs over that interval.

11· · · · · · · ·Other data included:· We will see a

12· · structure map indicating what kind of structure we

13· · would expect over that unit area; a 3-D seismic,

14· · if we have it over the area, which we do in this

15· · case, for looking at structure and thickness;

16· · geomechanical properties; and core data that is

17· · proximal to tie actual rock data to the electric

18· · logs in generating a physical model.· So a rather

19· · large, robust dataset, just for this analysis.

20· · Q.· · · · ·Mr. Cooper, I'm sharing on the screen

21· · the first of two geology exhibits that are

22· · included in the application.· Would you tell us

23· · what we are looking at on Exhibit F?

24· · A.· · · · ·Yes, sir.· So this is a subsea depth
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·1· · map of the top of the Point Pleasant interval of

·2· · the Utica.· So the depth below sea level of that

·3· · surface.· So that large 8000 -- negative 8000

·4· · contour, indicating that that contour line

·5· · represents where the Point Pleasant interval of

·6· · the Utica -- the top of that is 8,000 feet below

·7· · sea level.

·8· · · · · · · ·The purple crosses represent the depth

·9· · information that controls that structure map.· So

10· · most of those purple crosses are other Utica wells

11· · that have penetrated the Point Pleasant and have

12· · some kind of information that we could use to

13· · correlate that formation top.· So like I said,

14· · these are mostly other Utica laterals that

15· · probably have an MWD gamma ray for us to pick the

16· · Point Pleasant.

17· · · · · · · ·And the reason for showing something

18· · like this is to illustrate the lack of any

19· · significant structure over the unit area -- that

20· · we can interpret with this large amount of depth

21· · control.· And we still are interpreting these sort

22· · of relatively evenly spaced contours, indicating a

23· · dip from the northwest to the southeast of about a

24· · degree.· So really gentle, fairly unstructured,
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·1· · with no reason to interpret any kind of

·2· · compartmentalization or significant structural

·3· · change directly under the Ronald unit area.

·4· · · · · · · ·Also illustrated here by the orange

·5· · circles connected via a line across the unit area,

·6· · those represent the two closest vertical wells

·7· · that had electric logs over the Utica.· The two

·8· · closest to the Ronald are the Solo, being updip,

·9· · or shallower than the Ronald unit area, and the

10· · Creamer, being downdip, or deeper.

11· · · · · · · ·There are multiple logs that meet that

12· · criteria in this area.· Those two just happen to

13· · be the closest, and so they are what I illustrate

14· · in the subsequent cross-section.

15· · Q.· · · · ·Mr. Cooper, I'm going to turn now to

16· · that cross-section and then hand things back to

17· · you to tell us what we are looking at here and

18· · really what this information means.

19· · A.· · · · ·So this is that simple two-well

20· · cross-section schematically across the Ronald unit

21· · area.· I have selected two log curves to show in

22· · each well.· On the left is a gamma ray; on the

23· · right is the deep resistivity.

24· · · · · · · ·Without really getting into what those
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·1· · measure and what they can be interpreted to mean,

·2· · the point of showing something like this is the

·3· · lack of any significant change in the character of

·4· · those curves from well to well.· You can see those

·5· · two curves having remarkably similar character

·6· · from wells that are much farther apart than the

·7· · area of the unit.· So interpreting lack of change

·8· · over an area much larger than the unit area.

·9· · · · · · · ·Also shown here, the horizontal lines

10· · are lines of correlation illustrating the top of

11· · the Utica, the top of the Point Pleasant, and the

12· · base of the Utica from well to well.· So also a

13· · remarkably consistent thickness over an area

14· · significantly larger than the unit area.· Based on

15· · those observations and the observations from wells

16· · not shown here, there is not really a reason to

17· · interpret a significant amount of change under the

18· · Ronald unit area.· Or in other words, no reason to

19· · interpret it as not being part of a larger pool.

20· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you, Mr. Cooper.· And those same

21· · things that you just listed, the consistent

22· · uniform subsurface characteristics across a larger

23· · area than just the subject unit, do those support

24· · the use of a surface acreage allocation of unit
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·1· · production and expenses as well?

·2· · A.· · · · ·I believe they do.

·3· · Q.· · · · ·Mr. Cooper, your colleague, Ms. Sloat,

·4· · testified earlier about the non-consent penalty

·5· · included in the operating agreement, which is set

·6· · at 500 percent.· Could you give us a little bit of

·7· · your perspective as to why you think that is a

·8· · fair and reasonable non-consent penalty?

·9· · A.· · · · ·Sure.· Even in an unconventional play

10· · with its reproducible results, like the Utica in

11· · Southeast Ohio specifically, there is still

12· · operational risk.· And that penalty is intended to

13· · incentivize working interest partners to

14· · participate and share that risk.

15· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you very much, Mr. Cooper.

16· · · · · · · ·MR. HYLTON:· Nothing further for me at

17· · this point.

18· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.

19· · · · · · · ·Mr. Cooper, what is the anticipated

20· · true vertical depth of the horizontal portion of

21· · the wellbores?

22· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes, ma'am.· We

23· · anticipate landing the wellbore -- there are

24· · multiple wellbores here, so I'll be sort of giving
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·1· · an average -- but at 9,473 feet.

·2· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· What is the

·3· · anticipated true vertical depth of the top of the

·4· · Utica, the Point Pleasant, and the Trenton?

·5· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· We anticipate

·6· · encountering the Utica at 9,292 feet; the top of

·7· · the Point Pleasant at 9,408 feet; and the top of

·8· · the Trenton, or base of the Utica, at 9,530 feet,

·9· · all true vertical depth.

10· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· And do you

11· · expect production from outside the Point Pleasant?

12· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes, ma'am.· Over the

13· · lifetime of the well, some amount of production

14· · will come from the Upper Utica above the Point

15· · Pleasant.

16· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Okay.· Thank you.

17· · · · · · · ·Ms. Barrett, do you have any questions?

18· · · · · · · ·MS. BARRETT:· Yes, I do.· I will try my

19· · question again about well spacing.

20· · · · · · · · · · · · ·- - - - -

21· · · · · · · · · · ·CROSS-EXAMINATION

22· · BY MS. BARRETT:

23· · Q.· · · · ·On the Exhibit D, the well spacing

24· · between the wells and the unit boundaries to the
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·1· · east and west, can you explain that spacing?

·2· · A.· · · · ·I apologize.· I absolutely am going to

·3· · punt that to reservoir.

·4· · Q.· · · · ·Okay.· I'll try one last time.· Thank

·5· · you.

·6· · · · · · · ·MS. BARRETT:· No further questions for

·7· · me.

·8· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Okay.· Thank you.

·9· · · · · · · ·Mr. Hylton, please call your next

10· · witness.

11· · · · · · · ·MR. HYLTON:· Thank you, Ms. Richardson.

12· · · · · · · ·Our last witness this afternoon is Wes

13· · McAlister.

14· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Please swear in the

15· · witness.

16· · · · · · · · · · · · ·- - - - -

17· · · · · · · · · · · WES MCALISTER

18· · being first duly sworn, testifies and says as

19· · follows:

20· · · · · · · · · · DIRECT EXAMINATION

21· · BY MR. HYLTON:

22· · Q.· · · · ·Good afternoon, Mr. McAlister.· How are

23· · you?

24· · A.· · · · ·I'm doing well, Mark.· Thank you.



33

·1· · Q.· · · · ·Like both of your colleagues, please

·2· · introduce yourself to the Division and tell us a

·3· · bit about your educational and professional

·4· · background.

·5· · A.· · · · ·Yes.· My name is Wes McAlister.· I'm a

·6· · reservoir engineer here at Ascent Resources.  I

·7· · graduated from the University of Oklahoma with a

·8· · degree in petroleum engineering, and I've also

·9· · earned my MBA.· I have 14 years of experience as a

10· · petroleum engineer, this includes three years as

11· · an operations engineer and 11 years as a reservoir

12· · engineer.

13· · Q.· · · · ·Do you belong to any professional

14· · associations?

15· · A.· · · · ·Yes.· I'm a member of the Society of

16· · Petroleum Engineers.

17· · Q.· · · · ·Would you tell us a bit about your role

18· · at Ascent and some of your typical job

19· · responsibilities?

20· · A.· · · · ·Yeah.· So my primary job responsibility

21· · includes forecasting well performance for future

22· · wells and existing producing wells.· And we use

23· · these forecasts along with other inputs, such as

24· · this operating expense, to forecast cash flow for
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·1· · each well.

·2· · Q.· · · · ·Mr. McAlister, did you and your

·3· · reservoir team at Ascent forecast well performance

·4· · for the two wells in the subject unit for both a

·5· · unitized and a non-unitized operating scenario?

·6· · A.· · · · ·Yes, we did.

·7· · Q.· · · · ·Could you walk us through that process

·8· · at a high level?

·9· · A.· · · · ·Yes.· We group analogous wells in the

10· · areas we call "type curves."· And to do this, we

11· · work closely with our geology team to group

12· · producing wells based on rock and fluid properties

13· · and well performance.· And using this group of

14· · analogous wells in a type of area, we are able to

15· · generate an expected production profile for an

16· · undrilled well location.

17· · Q.· · · · ·Mr. McAlister, I'm sharing the

18· · economics exhibit to the application on the

19· · screen, which shows your well forecast numbers as

20· · well as the associated monetary values.· I would

21· · like to start at the top table, which reflects the

22· · unitized operating scenario.· And I ask that you

23· · tell us what the anticipated recovery in that

24· · unitized operating scenario is.
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·1· · A.· · · · ·34.960 BCFe.

·2· · Q.· · · · ·And going to the table just beneath

·3· · that, which represents the non-unitized operating

·4· · scenario.· What volume of production do you expect

·5· · here?

·6· · A.· · · · ·10.145 BCFe.

·7· · Q.· · · · ·Which takes us to the last table at the

·8· · bottom of the exhibit, which represents the

·9· · difference between the unitized operating scenario

10· · and the non-unitized operating scenario.· Could

11· · you please tell us the difference in recovery

12· · between those two operating scenarios?

13· · A.· · · · ·Yes.· 24.815 BCFe.

14· · Q.· · · · ·Mr. McAlister, given your educational

15· · background and your extensive industry experience,

16· · would you consider 24.815 BCFe to be substantial?

17· · A.· · · · ·Yes.· 24.815 BCFe is a substantial

18· · amount of production.· And to justify this

19· · statement, if we had a reserve change of this

20· · magnitude, we would have to account for this all

21· · the way to the top level of management here at

22· · Ascent.

23· · Q.· · · · ·Is the unit order that we have

24· · requested then reasonably necessary to
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·1· · substantially increase the ultimate recovery from

·2· · the Ronald N SMF JF unit?

·3· · A.· · · · ·Yes, it is.

·4· · Q.· · · · ·And sticking with the last table, would

·5· · you please tell us the monetary value that you

·6· · would anticipate for this 24.815 BCFe?

·7· · A.· · · · ·Yes.· So we show the value in the

·8· · bottom table, like you mentioned, using two

·9· · different discount rates:· zero percent and

10· · 10 percent.

11· · · · · · · ·The first is "PV0," which is the

12· · present value of all future expected cash flows

13· · undiscounted.· And the PV0 value for this 24.815

14· · BCFe is $49.98 million.

15· · · · · · · ·The "PV10" column uses the same future

16· · cash flows as PV0, but with an annual discount

17· · rate of 10 percent.· And the PV10 value is $25.687

18· · million.

19· · Q.· · · · ·Given that those values are in the

20· · millions, does the value of the estimated

21· · additional hydrocarbons produced in the unitized

22· · operating scenario exceed the estimated additional

23· · cost needed to produce them?

24· · A.· · · · ·Yes.
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·1· · Q.· · · · ·My last question for you, Mr. McAlister

·2· · is, would you please tell us if well pad costs

·3· · were factored into these numbers?· And if so, how?

·4· · A.· · · · ·Yes.· Well pad costs are factored in.

·5· · Since the pad is built, we used the actual pad

·6· · costs.· So we take the actual -- we take the total

·7· · cost of the pad and divide that by the total

·8· · number of wells we expect on the pad.· And that

·9· · gives us an average pad cost per well.· And that

10· · was used in this analysis.

11· · Q.· · · · ·Thank you very much, Mr. McAlister.

12· · · · · · · ·MR. HYLTON:· That is all I have for you

13· · at this point.

14· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.

15· · · · · · · ·Mr. McAlister, what is the estimated

16· · economic life of the well in years?

17· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I'm sorry.· Can you

18· · repeat that, please?

19· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Sure.· What is the

20· · estimated economic life of the well in years?

21· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes.· We use a 50-year

22· · run life.· So, 50 years.

23· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· What price

24· · was used in the economic calculations?
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·1· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I used the four-year

·2· · strip price dated June 30th, 2025.· And then using

·3· · that last year, we keep that price flat and run

·4· · that out for the life of the well.· And that

·5· · last-year pricing is $3.81 per MCF.

·6· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· And when

·7· · do you estimate you will recover the costs of

·8· · drilling, testing, and completing the wells at

·9· · one, one and a half, two, and three?

10· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· One-times cost to drill,

11· · test, and complete, we estimate that we will

12· · recover the cost in 0.7 years.

13· · One-and-a-half-times cost is 1.2 years, two-times

14· · cost is 2.3 years, and three-times cost is 8.1

15· · years.

16· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· Now, you

17· · are proposing two wells, and the pad is already

18· · built.· So what is the total number of wells on

19· · the pad?

20· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Five.

21· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· What

22· · amount was included for plugging and restoration

23· · costs in your economic calculations per well?

24· · For -- yeah.· For plugging and restoration.
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·1· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yep.· We use $250,000 per

·2· · well.· And this includes plugging and abandonment

·3· · costs, the cost for pad reclamation, and any

·4· · salvage value the well may have.

·5· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· What is

·6· · the estimated BCFe per 1,000 feet?

·7· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· 2.05 BCFe per 1,000 feet

·8· · is expected.

·9· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Okay.· Thank you.

10· · What is the estimated recovery factor in the area?

11· · · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Generally around 60

12· · percent for this area.

13· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.

14· · · · · · · ·Ms. Barrett, do you have any questions?

15· · · · · · · ·MS. BARRETT:· Yes.· Just a couple.

16· · · · · · · · · · · · ·- - - - -

17· · · · · · · · · · ·CROSS-EXAMINATION

18· · BY MS. BARRETT:

19· · Q.· · · · ·Did you factor in any shutdown costs

20· · for simultaneous operations for the existing

21· · wells?

22· · A.· · · · ·No.· They are not factored into these

23· · two Ronald wells.

24· · Q.· · · · ·Okay.· And why not?
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·1· · A.· · · · ·These two Ronald wells will not burden

·2· · the costs of those other wells.

·3· · Q.· · · · ·And then my last question:· On the

·4· · Exhibit D there was -- let me pull it up.· I think

·5· · it's over 900 feet of spacing from the wells to

·6· · the boundaries on the east and the west.· So I was

·7· · just curious as to the reasoning for the spacing

·8· · there.

·9· · A.· · · · ·Yeah.· So as far as the development of

10· · these two wells and the planning of these two

11· · wells, we work with a multidisciplinary team to

12· · decide where to put the well locations.· And we

13· · believe these well locations will best effectively

14· · drain this unit.

15· · Q.· · · · ·Okay.· Thank you.

16· · · · · · · ·MS. BARRETT:· No further questions for

17· · me.

18· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· Once

19· · again, if you would like to make comments, I am

20· · first going to take all of your names and note

21· · whether you are an unleased mineral owner, working

22· · interest owner, or owner with a property in the

23· · unit.

24· · · · · · · ·Only one person may speak at a time to
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·1· · properly record the hearing.· And please mute your

·2· · microphone once you have delivered your comments

·3· · or questions to avoid any feedback.· Additionally,

·4· · anyone speaking today will be asked to provide

·5· · their information to the court reporter.· If you

·6· · are uncomfortable speaking during the hearing, we

·7· · will also accept written comments.

·8· · · · · · · ·If you have joined us via WebEx and

·9· · would like to make comments, please unmute

10· · yourself and state your name.

11· · · · · · · ·Hearing none.

12· · · · · · · ·If you have joined us via phone and

13· · would like to make comments, please unmute

14· · yourself by pressing "star 6" and state your name.

15· · · · · · · ·Hearing none.

16· · · · · · · ·We do have a few chat questions that we

17· · can address now.

18· · · · · · · ·The first question that was asked was,

19· · "Will there be a recording of this meeting?"

20· · · · · · · ·And I think it has been answered.

21· · There is a transcript that comes out in 21 days.

22· · So you can request a transcript by email or by

23· · phone, and we can send it to you or send it by

24· · email.
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·1· · · · · · · ·Ms. Barrett, do you want to add

·2· · anything to that?

·3· · · · · · · ·MS. BARRETT:· You can either call our

·4· · offices to make those requests or email our

·5· · unitization@dnr.ohio.gov inbox, and we can handle

·6· · that public records request either way.

·7· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· The next

·8· · question was, "What was accepted royalty?"

·9· · · · · · · ·Mr. Hylton, can you give an

10· · explanation?

11· · · · · · · ·MS. SLOAT:· I can pop in and answer

12· · that question.· That number was 18.1 percent

13· · royalty.

14· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· The next

15· · question states, "I am a landowner within this

16· · area, and I have not been contacted about leasing

17· · options for my property."

18· · · · · · · ·MS. BARRETT:· Yeah.· I think that

19· · comment was from Mr. Nicholson.· And it looks like

20· · he had said that he wished to make comments.

21· · · · · · · ·Mr. Nicholson, are you still on the

22· · call?· Are you able to unmute yourself to speak?

23· · If you are on WebEx, you should just be able to

24· · unmute; if you are on a phone, it is "star 6".
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·1· · · · · · · ·MR. NICHOLSON:· Yeah.

·2· · · · · · · ·MS. BARRETT:· Okay.

·3· · · · · · · ·Ms. Richardson, if we could get him

·4· · sworn in.

·5· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Sure.

·6· · · · · · · ·We are going to swear you in.

·7· · · · · · · ·Please swear in the witness.

·8· · · · · · · · · · · · ·- - - - -

·9· · · · · · · ·(Ken Nicholson, having been duly sworn,

10· · testifies as follows.)

11· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Please proceed with

12· · your question or comment, okay.

13· · · · · · · ·MR. NICHOLSON:· Okay.· You wanna go

14· · ahead, Jackie?

15· · · · · · · ·UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:· Oh, no.· You

16· · can.

17· · · · · · · ·MR. NICHOLSON:· Yeah.· I have been

18· · notified, and I have got money before.· But I have

19· · not got any -- it's been -- in probably eight

20· · years.· I didn't know if I'm still going to get

21· · something for my property there in Tiltonsville.

22· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Mr.· Nicholson, are

23· · you an unleased mineral owner or working interest

24· · owner?
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·1· · · · · · · ·MR. NICHOLSON:· Landowner.

·2· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Okay.· Would anyone

·3· · like to comment?

·4· · · · · · · ·MS. SLOAT:· I can comment on that.

·5· · · · · · · ·So Mr. Nicholson is an owner on our

·6· · Exhibit C because the mineral ownership under his

·7· · parcel is a little ambiguous because of a very old

·8· · mineral reservation.

·9· · · · · · · ·Someone claiming to be his power of

10· · attorney did contact us in August.· But when we

11· · requested materials that showed that they had

12· · power of attorney, we didn't hear back from them.

13· · And according to my broker, the land management --

14· · they are my hands and feet in the field

15· · essentially.· They have tried reaching out via a

16· · couple of different phone numbers.

17· · · · · · · ·So, Mr. Nicholson, if you could stay on

18· · the call afterward, we can try to make sure that

19· · we have the best contact information for you and

20· · talk to you a little bit more about protection

21· · leases.

22· · · · · · · ·MR. NICHOLSON:· Okay.· Thank you.

23· · · · · · · ·MS. SLOAT:· Thank you.

24· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you.· We have a
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·1· · comment from someone, but we may have already

·2· · answered it -- questions about royalties to the

·3· · Applicant.

·4· · · · · · · ·MS. BARRETT:· Yes.· I think that one

·5· · was taken care of.

·6· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· And those are all the

·7· · questions that are in the chat.

·8· · · · · · · ·Ms. Barrett, do you have any additional

·9· · questions?

10· · · · · · · ·MS. BARRETT:· No, I do not.· Thank you.

11· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· And does the Applicant

12· · have any closing remarks?

13· · · · · · · ·MR. HYLTON:· We do not.· Thank you for

14· · your time.

15· · · · · · · ·MS. RICHARDSON:· Thank you, everyone.

16· · · · · · · ·The hearing is now concluded.

17· · · · · · · · · · · · ·- - - - -

18· · · · · · ·Thereupon, the foregoing proceedings

19· · · · · · ·concluded at 3:16 p.m.

20· · · · · · · · · · · · ·- - - - -

21

22

23

24
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·1· · State of Ohio· · ·:· · ·C E R T I F I C A T E
· · · County of Franklin: SS
·2
· · · · · ·I, Bridget Mary Hoye, a Notary Public in and
·3· · for the State of Ohio, do hereby certify that I
· · · transcribed or supervised the transcription of the
·4· · audio recording of the aforementioned proceedings;
· · · that the foregoing is a true record of the
·5· · proceedings.

·6· · · · ·I do further certify I am not a relative,
· · · employee or attorney of any of the parties hereto,
·7· · and further I am not a relative or employee of any
· · · attorney or counsel employed by the parties
·8· · hereto, or financially interested in the action.

·9· · · · ·IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my
· · · hand and affixed my seal of office at Columbus,
10· · Ohio, on October 22, 2025.

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20· · _________________________________________________
· · · Bridget Mary Hoye, Notary Public - State of Ohio
21· · My commission expires April 14, 2030.
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